
1 

 

   
 
 
 

WORKING NOTES  
 

Regular Meeting  
 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, March 16, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
Call to order the Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, March 16, 2016 at 
____ PM 
 
ROLL CALL: 
Commissioners Present are: _________________. 
Commissioners Absent are: _________________. 

David Bondanza – Regular Member 
Jonathan Thiesse – Regular Member  
Phil Pane – Regular Member 
David Evens – Regular Member  
John Huyghebaert – Regular Member 
Keith August – Regular Member 
Lans Perry – Regular Member 
David Freeman – Alternate Member 
Bill Sarmuk – Alternate Member 
Kevin Baldwin – Alternate Member 

*members indicated they will be absent 
 

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present? 
(If a Regular Member is absent: “Mr. _______ is hereby seated for Mr. __________.”) 
 
Modification of Agenda 
 

Request from staff to add a new Other Business #6 (and re-order) “Review of communication 
from the Town Attorney regarding File #524; Shallot Meadow Road Subdivision and possible 
scheduling of a special meeting” 
 
A motion is made, 
is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 



2 

 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
1. File #445; Apln #1576; 594 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 1010594; Zone R-2; Special 

Permit, Section 6.3.F.2, removal of trees 4” or greater in caliper within the Farmington River 
Protection Overlay District; Section 7.5, earthwork and grading; and Section 9.1., Site Plan 
Application; request to construct single family home; David and Jacqueline Mott, applicants/owners 
 

This matter has an application pending before the Canton IWWA. A public hearing was scheduled 
this evening on the chance that a the IWWA acted favorable at their March 10

th
 meeting.  The 

IWWA scheduled a site walk for March 31
st
.  Site walk observations will be discussed at the April 

14
th
 IWWA meeting.  It is therefore requested that the PZC postpone the opening of the public 

hearing for this matter. 
 

Suggested Motion: 
 

Motion: to postpone the opening of the public hearing for File #445; Apln. #1576 to the 
April 20

th
, 2016 regular meeting of the Commission.  

 
A motion is made, 
is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 
 
(Note posting of signs at meeting room entrances.) 

 
2. File #76; Apln #1578; 146 Powder Mill Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I; Special 

Permits, Section 6.2.F.4, insignificant minor development in a floodway; Section 7.7.B.3, fences and 
freestanding walls greater than 6 feet in height; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1.; request to 
install a 60 ft. x 100 ft. x 10 ft. chain link fence; Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC, applicant; Sack 
Properties, LLC, owner 
 

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________, 
 
4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________ 
 
___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom 

 
The Public Hearing opens this evening. This application was submitted on February 25, 2016. 
There was sufficient time available for legal notices could be done so that the hearing could open 
this evening as the application is being received by the Commission.  As a special permit 
application a hearing is required.  The Commission has 35 days to close the hearing (April 20, 
2016).  
 
The applicant proposes to modify the developed site of 146 Powder Mill Road by adding a fence.  
The property was previously approved for a used car dealer in 2004. Prior approval of Automobile 
Repair use was identified but evidence not submitted – staff to confirm.  The fenced in area would 
be used to secure vehicles.  The fence being greater than 6 feet in height requires a special 
permit per Section 7.7.B.3.  The fence is also located in a floodplain. Please note the fence is in 
an Zone AE 100 year flood plain (1% chance of flooding) not a floodway.  However the criteria of 
6.2.F.4 governs per 6.2.G.1.  The fenced area would be 60’ x 100’. The 60’ portion would be 
perpendicular to the direction of flow in a flood event. A construction detail of the proposed fence 
was not included in the submittal. 
 

Suggested Motions: 
 



3 

 

Motion: to Continue the public hearing for File #76; Apln. #1578. 
 
A motion is made, 
is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 
 
OR 
 
Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #76; Apln. #1578. 
 
A motion is made, 
is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #445; Apln #1576; 594 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 1010594; Zone R-2; Special 

Permit, Section 6.3.F.2, removal of trees 4” or greater in caliper within the Farmington River 
Protection Overlay District; Section 7.5, earthwork and grading; and Section 9.1., Site Plan 
Application; request to construct single family home; David and Jacqueline Mott, applicants/owners 
 

No Action 
 

2. File #76; Apln #1578; 146 Powder Mill Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I; Special 
Permits, Section 6.2.F.4, insignificant minor development in a floodway; Section 7.7.B.3, fences and 
freestanding walls greater than 6 feet in height; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1.; request to 
install a 60 ft. x 100 ft. x 10 ft. chain link fence; Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC, applicant; Sack 
Properties, LLC, owner 

 
___ Discussion 
___ Do I have a motion?  
 
There is no draft motion at this time. 
 
A motion is made, is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 

 
 

OLD BUSINESS:  
  
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
1. File #383; 59 Andrew Drive; Assessor’s Map 12; Parcel 1070059; Zone R-3; Modification of 

subdivision approval; request to establish an approved building lot; Blueberry Hill Partnership; 
applicant/owner 

 
This is a modification of a previously approved subdivision.  The 1998 approval of this subdivision 
defined a lot (Lot 23, now 59 Andrew Drive) but did not create it as a “Building Lot”.  1988 
comments from the FVHD recommended the lot not be approved at that time.  The lot was 
recorded on the filed mylar as “NOT A BUILDING LOT AT THIS TIME”. 



4 

 

Subsequently, in 2015 (27 years later) the developer has received approval to proceed from the 
FVHD (File Correspondence #5 and #6). ”.  The developer and his engineer approached the 
building department and demanded a building permit. It was confirmed by council that the lot 
shown required Commission approval prior to being considered a building lot. 
 
 
The applicant submitted a May 12, 2015 Feasibility Site Plan.  It was requested that an updated 
plan be submitted inclusive of a Zoning Data Table demonstrating all of the requirements of the 
regulations have been met, inclusive of setbacks, coverage, disturbances, etc… Per CGS 26a(b) 
the regulations in effect today would govern.  An updated plan was not provided. The 
Commission may wish to continue this to allow the applicant to submit all necessary information 
to demonstrate the lot complies with present zoning, or perhaps approve it with conditions subject 
to staff review.  

 
___ Discussion 
___ Do I have a motion?  
 
Motion:  To continue File #383 to the April 20, 2016 regular meeting. 
 
Or 
 
Motion:  The Canton Planning and Zoning Commission does hereby APPROVE File #383; 59 
Andrew Drive; Assessor’s Map 12; Parcel 1070059; Zone R-3; Modification of subdivision 
approval; request to establish an approved building lot; Blueberry Hill Partnership; 
applicant/owner 
This approval is granted in accordance in accordance with the October 3, 1988 approval, 
inclusive of all documents, exhibits, findings and conditions. 
 
This approval is also granted based on the following submitted with plan(s) entitled: 
 

1. Sheet 1; Feasibility Site Plan; 59 Andrew Drive; Prepared by Thomas H. Shannon; 
Prepared for Blueberry Hill Partnership; Dated May 12, 2015 
 

2. Sheet 2; Grading Plan; 59 Andrew Drive; Prepared by Alford Associates, Inc.; Prepared 
for Blueberry Hill Partnership; Dated December 12, 1986; Revised October 8, 1988 

 
In addition to the above-referenced plans, this approval is granted in accordance with the 
following documentation submitted by the applicant, or otherwise submitted to the Commission: 

  
1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #383; 59 Andrew Drive; 

Assessor’s Map 12; Parcel 1070059; Zone R-3; Modification of Subdivision Approval; 
request to establish an approved building lot; Blueberry Hill Partnership; applicant/owner 

2. GIS map for 59 Andrew Drive 
3. Copy of minutes from the regular meeting of the Canton Planning Commission; dated 

10/3/88 
4. Letter from the FVHD to the Canton Planning Commission regarding lot conditions for the 

installation of a septic system; dated 8/25/88 
5. Letter from the FVHD to Blueberry Hill Partnership regarding the lot’s capability of 

supporting the installation of an on-site septic system; dated 6/16/15 
6. Letter from the FVHD to Blueberry Hill Partnership regarding the approval for installation 

of a septic system at 59 Andrew Drive; dated 10/7/15 
 
This approval is effective April 5, 2016 and upon the recording of the final Mylar’s as required 
below with the town clerk.  
 



5 

 

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 
 
1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear 

all the conditions of all land use commissions, and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) on a Town approved signature block. Said plans 
shall be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk by June 14, 2016, 
which is within 90 days of the effective date (anticipated expiration of the appeal period); The 
applicant/ developer must provide one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each 
approved plan for signature by the Chairman and /or Secretary.  Maps to be filed on the land 
records of the Town Clerk must meet the following standards: 

 
Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic 
polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be 
certified by a stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process 
used.  Polyester films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side.  Maps shall be 24” x 36”. 
 

2. The conditions of Farmington Valley Health Districts June 16, 2015 letter approval are 
incorporated by reference. 
 

3. The conditions of the Farmington Valley Health Districts October 7, 2015 letter are 
incorporated by reference. 

 
4. The Feasibility Site Plan shall be modified as follows: 
 

a. ? 
 
5. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant / developer, heirs, assigns 
 
A motion is made, is there a second? 
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions? 
Motion passes / fails 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes of the February 10, 2016 Special Meeting and February 17, 2016 Regular Meeting  

 
2. POCD Update 

Customized PZC Implementation Table included in packets. Spreadsheet started by staff to update 
progress. 
 

3. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 
4. Discussion of Design Regulations  

Schedule date for next workshop 
 

5. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite 
Updated draft distributed to committee on 3/4/2016 
 

6. Review of communication from the Town Attorney regarding File #524; Shallot Meadow Road 
Subdivision and possible scheduling of a special meeting 
  

7. Staff Reports: 
a. Town Planner’s Report 
b. ZEO Report 

 
ADJOURNMENT: 



- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #445; Apln #1576; 594 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 1010594; Zone R-2; Special Permit,
Section 6.3.F.2, removal of trees 4” or greater in caliper within the Farmington River Protection Overlay
District; Section 7.5, earthwork and grading; and Site Plan Application, Section 9.1.; request to construct
single family home; David and Jacqueline Mott, applicants/owners

List as of March 1, 2016

List of Drawings

1. Sheet 1; Zoning Location Survey; 594 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by Robert Green Associates, LLC;
Prepared for David and Jacqueline Mott; Dated December 18, 2015; Revised February 9, 2016

2. Sheet 2; Miscellaneous Notes & Details; 594 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by Robert Green Associates,
LLC; Prepared for David and Jacqueline Mott; Dated December 18, 2015; Revised February 9, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #445; Apln #1576; 594 Albany Turnpike;
Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 1010594; Zone R-2; Special Permit, Section 6.3.F.2, removal of trees 4” or
greater in caliper within the Farmington River Protection Overlay District; Section 7.5, earthwork and
grading; and Site Plan Application, Section 9.1.; request to construct single family home; David and
Jacqueline Mott, applicants/owners

2. Site Plan Application checklist

3. Special Permit Application checklist

4. Copy of payment; check #6054

5. FVHD approval; dated 1/29/16

6. Proposed scope of work for tree removal by Bristol’s Tree Service, LLC; dated 2/3/16

7. Abutters map

8. List of abutters

9. Affidavit for posting of public hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations; dated 2/23/16

10. Photo depicting placement of public hearing sign

11. Copy of the abutter notice sent to abutting property owners; dated 2/23/16

12. Photographs of certified mailing receipts

13. Municipal abutter notice sent to the Town of New Hartford; dated 2/23/16

14. Aerial photograph of property (2 total)

15. Photograph depicting elevation of property

16. Town of Canton legal notice

17. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 3/1/16



Product(s): Hartford Courant, MyPublicNotices.com

AdSize(s): 1 Column, 300 x 250 Pixels

Run Date(s): Thursday, March 03, 2016, Thursday, March 10, 2016

Color Spec. B/W

 Preview

Order ID: 4009983

Page 1 of 2

3/1/2016 8:47:47 AMPrinted:

GROSS PRICE * : $178.52

* Agency Commission not included

Legal Notice Zoned DailyPACKAGE NAME:



Order ID: 4009983

Page 2 of 2

3/1/2016 8:47:47 AMPrinted:

GROSS PRICE * : $178.52

* Agency Commission not included

Legal Notice Zoned DailyPACKAGE NAME:



Legal Notice
Town of Canton

Planning & Zoning Commission

The Canton Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing at a regular meeting on
Wednesday, March 16, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. in Room F of the Canton Community Center, 40 Dyer Avenue,
Canton, CT for the following applications:

File #445; Apln #1576; 594 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 1010594; Zone R-2; Special
Permit, Section 6.3.F.2, removal of trees 4” or greater in caliper within the Farmington River
Protection Overlay District; Section 7.5, earthwork and grading; and Site Plan Application, Section
9.1.; request to construct single family home; David and Jacqueline Mott, applicants/owners

File #76; Apln #1578; 146 Powder Mill Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I;
Special Permits, Section 6.2.F.4, insignificant minor development in a floodway; Section 7.7.B.3,
fences and freestanding walls greater than 6 feet in height; and Site Plan Modification, Section
9.1.; request to install a 60 ft. x 100 ft. x 10 ft. chain link fence; Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC,
applicant; Sack Properties, LLC, owner

This application is on file and available for public inspection in the Land Use Office, Canton Town Hall, 4
Market Street, Collinsville, CT, telephone 860-693-7856.

Dated at Canton, Connecticut, this 1
st

day of March 2016.

David Bondanza, Chairman
Philip Pane, Secretary

To be published twice in the Hartford Courant on Thursday, March 3, 2016 and Thursday, March 10,
2016.

Town of Canton Account Number: CU00254181









































































- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #76; Apln #1578; 146 Powder Mill Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I; Special
Permits, Section 6.2.F.4, insignificant minor development in a floodway; Section 7.7.B.3, fences and
freestanding walls greater than 6 feet in height; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1.; request to install
a 60 ft. x 100 ft. x 10 ft. chain link fence; Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC, applicant; Sack Properties, LLC,
owner

List as of March 1, 2016
List of Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Site Plan; 146 Powder Mill Road; Prepared by Hallisey, Pearson & Cassidy; Prepared for
Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC; dated February 23, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #76; Apln #1578; 146 Powder Mill
Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I; Special Permits, Section 6.2.F.4, insignificant
minor development in a floodway; Section 7.7.B.3, fences and freestanding walls greater than 6 feet
in height; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1.; request to install a 60 ft. x 100 ft. x 10 ft. chain link
fence; Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC, applicant; Sack Properties, LLC, owner

2. Copy of payment; check #11473

3. Assessor’s card for 146 Powder Mill Road

4. List of abutters

5. Abutters map

6. Flood Plain Management map

7. Copy of the abutter notice sent to abutting property owners; dated 2/25/16

8. Affidavit for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations; dated 2/25/16

9. Copy of the approval letter for the Zoning Commission File #76; Apln #1036; dated 6/8/04

10. Copy of the WPCA Change of Location Application for 146 Powder Mill Road; dated 2/17/16

11. Copy of the letter to Roger Ignazio from Jennifer Rindflesh regarding best management practices and
pollution prevention at 146 Powder Mill Road; dated 2/23/16

12. Copy of the letter to Jennifer Rindflesh from Roger Ignazio regarding review of her WPCA application;
dated 2/29/16

13. Certified mailing receipts

14. Town of Canton legal notice

15. Copy of municipal abutter notice to Town of New Hartford; dated 3/1/16

16. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 3/1/16













































- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #383; 59 Andrew Drive; Assessor’s Map 12; Parcel 1070059; Zone R-3; Modification of Subdivision
Approval; request to establish an approved building lot; Blueberry Hill Partnership; applicant/owner

List as of March 1, 2016

List of Drawings

1. Sheet 1; Feasibility Site Plan; 59 Andrew Drive; Prepared by Thomas H. Shannon; Prepared for
Blueberry Hill Partnership; Dated May 12, 2015

2. Sheet 2; Grading Plan; 59 Andrew Drive; Prepared by Alford Associates, Inc.; Prepared for Blueberry Hill
Partnership; Dated December 12, 1986; Revised October 8, 1988

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #383; 59 Andrew Drive; Assessor’s
Map 12; Parcel 1070059; Zone R-3; Modification of Subdivision Approval; request to establish an
approved building lot; Blueberry Hill Partnership; applicant/owner

2. GIS map for 59 Andrew Drive

3. Copy of minutes from the regular meeting of the Canton Planning Commission; dated 10/3/88

4. Letter from the FVHD to the Canton Planning Commission regarding lot conditions for the installation
of a septic system; dated 8/25/88

5. Letter from the FVHD to Blueberry Hill Partnership regarding the lot’s capability of supporting the
installation of an on-site septic system; dated 6/16/15

6. Letter from the FVHD to Blueberry Hill Partnership regarding the approval for installation of a septic
system at 59 Andrew Drive; dated 10/7/15

































   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Special Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, February 10, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: The Special Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission on February 10, 
2016 was called to order at 7:15 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: David Evens, Jonathan Thiesse, Phil Pane and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: David Freeman, Keith August, William Sarmuk, John Huyghebaert and David Bondanza 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Discussion of Design Regulations, Canton Design Village Districts, Form-Based Code – In 

order to provide a recap of what transpired at the last meeting, Mr. Pade walked through sections 1-4 
of the draft document in order to review all changes that have been proposed thus far. Along with 
confirming the proposed edits, Mr. Pade provided a summary of each section and asked the 
Commission if they had any edits, concerns, questions, etc. The Commission discussed concerns 
regarding certain verbiage, references to specific zoning regulations, the process of appeals, and 
consistency with state statutes. Throughout the meeting, the Commission also discussed proposed 
build-to-lines and the idea of allowing variances in order to off-set buildings, fenestration, non-
conformities, and more. A follow-up meeting will be scheduled for Wednesday, February 24, 2016 at 
6:30 p.m. in order to continuing reviewing the document.  
 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:53 p.m. Mr. Pane seconded the motion, which 
passed unanimously 4-0-0.  
 
 



  
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, February 17, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission on February 
17, 2016 was called to order at 7:33 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: David Bondanza, John Huyghebaert, David Evens, Phil Pane, Jonathan Thiesse and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: David Freeman, William Sarmuk and Keith August 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade, Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci, Project Administrator 
George Wallace and Director of Public Works Robert Martin 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA:  
 
MOTION: Mr. Bondanza moved to modify the agenda to discuss the following items first: 
 
1. NEW BUSINESS ITEM #2: Pre-Application Review; 50 Old River Road; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 

4060050; Zone MCPF; discussion of redevelopment concepts for the Town Garage; Town of Canton, 
applicant/owner 
   

2. PUBLIC HEARING ITEM #4: File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 
1010110; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain 
management; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high 
gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, 
applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners 

 
3. NEW BUSINESS ITEM #1: File #543; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 

& 4580177; Zone R3; Lot Line Revision; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, 
owner 

 
Mr. Thiesse seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – Mr. Pade informed the Commission that he 
received an email from Attorney David Markowitz regarding his client’s decision to withdraw the 
application, which was re-confirmed by a follow-up phone call from Ms. Kym Nash to Land Use 
Coordinator Renee Narducci.  
 



MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to accept the withdrawal of File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany 
Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, 
service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan 
Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site 
improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner. Mr. Bondanza seconded 
the motion, which passed unanimously.  
 

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; 
Special Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; 
request to establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the 
property; Dana Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner – An overview of this 
application was provided to the Commission since the applicant was unable to attend due to personal 
matters. The submission of this application is in response to a violation that Mr. Mathes is aiming to 
correct. It was concluded that no additional information was necessary and the Commission is ready 
to move forward with application. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to close public hearing for File #193; Apln #1571. Mr. Thiesse seconded 
the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 

3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; 
Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square 
feet; Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; 
and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner – Mr. Steven Stang 
was present to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission had. It is the intent 
of Mr. Stang to improve the traffic flow entering and exiting the property, as well as the surrounding 
lots in which he owns to the east. Once improvements at this location are approved, the entire 
complex of properties, which consists of 163-175 Albany Turnpike, could be treated as one 
consolidated site plan. Mr. Stang would like to continue cleanup of the site, which includes the 
removal of several dilapidated structures as shown on the submitted site plan. While certain activities 
and uses occurred on the premises over the years, it is not clear the extent that they received zoning 
approval or are considered business district uses. Previous retail and display activity onsite occurred 
under regulations that allowed agricultural uses as of right within business districts. Mr. Stang wishes 
to remove any obscurity over the uses allowed, establish outdoor display areas, and designate 
parking area allowances/demarcations. Additionally, the applicant is seeking approval of a unified 
signage theme so that the signs to be installed at 175 Albany Turnpike would mimic the signs on his 
properties to the east. Potential uses and concepts for the site were discussed; however, at this time 
there is no formal plan in place. Mr. Pade provided some background on the property regarding its 
previous violations and proposed concepts, which included restaurants, gas stations, car washes and 
more. Mr. Bondanza noted that it is encouraging seeing someone work towards restoring a piece of 
property and enhance the overall area, as well as surrounding lots. Overall, the Commission is 
pleased with how the lot has been improved thus far and had no further questions regarding the 
application. 
 
Catherine Wilowski of 69 Trailsend Drive expressed her concerns regarding potential lighting, noise 
and parking, and felt the application was too broad in its description regarding future activity. 
 
Daniel Hinman of 177 Albany Turnpike, expressed his concerns regarding traffic, parking, noise, 
lighting and potential future businesses onsite. 
 
A gentleman from Canton Valley Circle, whose name was undistinguishable, asked if any 
environmental studies have occurred onsite due to the recent uses as an agricultural business and 
risk of possible contamination.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to close the public hearing for File #140; Apln #1574. Mr. Pane seconded 
the motion, which passed unanimously.  
 



4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special 
Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall 
along Jim Brook; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S 
Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners – Mr. Emile Pierides from 
BL Companies was present to discuss the application on behalf of the owners and answer any 
questions the Commission had. The scope of work includes the construction of a new 10 foot high 
gravity retaining wall that would be positioned 6 inches away from the existing wall, creating an 
additional loss of 5 cubic yards of flood plain storage. Mr. Pierides discussed the issues with the 
existing wall, as well as the work that would be required in order to remove and rebuild said wall. 
Based on the information provided, it appears that the new wall will be within the flood plain by 2.4 
inches and the blocks will be lowered into position using a crane. Mr. Pade informed the Commission 
that the applicant has received wetlands approval for this project and the Project Administrator’s 
comments/concerns have been addressed.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to close public hearing for File #8; Apln #1575. Mr. Evens seconded 
the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – No action was taken since the Commission 
approved the applicant’s request for withdrawal during the public hearing. 
 

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; 
Special Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; 
request to establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the 
property; Dana Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner 

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to APPROVE File #193, Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s 
Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the 
southwest corner of the property; Dana Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner. 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated December 28, 2015; information received at 
a public hearing commenced on February 17, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. Sheet 1; Modified Plot Plan; 465 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney Consulting 

Engineers, LLC; Prepared for 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC; Dated December 16, 2015 
 

Correspondence: 
 
1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning – Development Application for File #193; Apln #1571; 465 

Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special Permit, Section 
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to establish a 



1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana Mathes, 
applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner 

2. Special Permit application checklist 
3. Copy of payment; check # 3618 
4. Copy of abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 12/30/15 
5. Abutter list 
6. January 13, 2016 memorandum from Neil S. Pade AICP to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission 
7. Draft minutes from the 1/19/16 regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission  
8. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations; dated 1/20/16 
9. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/20/16 
10. Certified Mail receipts 
11. Town of Canton legal notice 
12. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 2/2/16 
 

This approval is effective March 8, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING 
OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  

 
Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; 

Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square 
feet; Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; 
and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner 
 
MOTION: Mr. Bondanza moved to APPROVE File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; 
Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, 
coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, 
applicant/owner. 

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated January 28, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on February 17, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 
 
Drawings: 
 

1. Sheet 1; Unified Site Plan; 163-175 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by Denno Land Surveying & 
Consulting, LLC; Prepared for G.S.H.P., LLC; Dated January 27, 2016 

2. Sheet 2; Property Map; U.S. Route 44, Canton, CT; Prepared by Nascimbeni & Jahne 
Surveyors; Prepared for Lois & John Hinman; dated September 1969 

 
Correspondence: 

 
1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany 

Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, 
retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor 



display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site 
Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner 

2. Copy of payment; check #2080 
3. Site Plan application checklist 
4. Letter from Steven Stang regarding the property; dated 1/28/16 
5. Pictures of current signage (2 total) 
6. Abutter’s map 
7. Abutter’s list 
8. Copy of abutter notice; dated 1/29/16 
9. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations; dated 1/29/16 
10. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/29/16 
11. Town of Canton legal notice 
12. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 2/2/16 

 
This approval is effective March 8, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING 
OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees;  
2. The site plan shall reflect the conditions of approval prior to the commencement of work; 
3. The plantings that are identified on the 1985 drawing that exists in the file, specifically in the 

western and northern borders of the property shall be planted; 
4. No lighting shall be installed without an additional application to the Commission; 
5. The signage shall be matched pursuant to the application to the existing signs on the abutting 

parcels and that prior to any signage be being placed, that the submittal specify the 
dimensions and materials to be used on the signage would be submitted to the Land Use 
Office for review; 

6. The application as specified, would be restricted to a 3,500 square foot building that is 
already existing on the premises and if 3,500 square feet is not the accurate number, it is 
meant to be clear that there shall be no enlargement of existing buildings on the property 
without an additional application and future consideration by the Commission, and no new 
space will be built in response to concerns from the neighbors since there is no use plan and 
in consistency with the fact that no tenant has been identified yet for the property; 

7. The movement of the shed to the back area shall be approved and the dilapidated 
greenhouses identified on the plan shall be removed; 

8. The delineation of the outdoor display area shall be on the revised plan; and  
9. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear 

all conditions placed upon the proposed plans by all Town land use commissions, and 
stamped “APPROVED” and signed by the Commission on a Town approved signature block. 
Said plans shall be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk within 12 
months of the date of this approval or June 16, 2017; The applicant/developer must provide 
one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each approved plan for signature by the 
Chairman and /or Secretary.  Maps to be filed on the land records of the Town Clerk must 
meet the following standards: Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 
2) fixed line photographic polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the 
process used must be certified by a stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of 
producer and process used. Polyester films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side.  
Maps shall be 24” x 36”; Per Section 9.1.F this approval shall not be valid until such recording 
Mylars have been filed in the Town of Canton Land Records. 

 
Mr. Thiesse seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 



4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special 
Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall 
along Jim Brook; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S 
Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners 
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to APPROVE File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s 
Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood 
plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot 
high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, 
applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners.  

 
This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the 
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated January 20, 2016; information received at a 
public hearing commenced on February 17, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the following 
documentation submitted by the applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the 
application: 

 
Drawings: 
 

1. Sheet 1; SP-1; Site Plan; 110 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by BL Companies; Prepared for The 
Shoppes at Farmington Valley; Dated October 5, 2015; Revised January 28, 2016 

2. Sheet 2; DN-1; Detail Sheet; 110 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by BL Companies; Prepared for The 
Shoppes at Farmington Valley; Dated October 5, 2015; Revised January 28, 2016  

3. Sheet 3; SP-1; Site Plan; 110 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by BL Companies; Prepared for The 
Shoppes at Farmington Valley; Dated October 5, 2015; Revised February 17, 2016 

4. Sheet 4; DN-1; Detail Sheet; 110 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by BL Companies; Prepared for The 
Shoppes at Farmington Valley; Dated October 5, 2015; Revised February 17, 2016 
 

Correspondence: 
 

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; 
Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; 
Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to 
construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook; W/S Peak Canton Properties, 
LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS Asset 
Management, Inc., owners 

2. Copy of payment; check #89687 and 89686 
3. Special Permit application checklist 
4. Letter of transmittal from BL Companies; dated 1/28/16 
5. Letter from BL Companies to the Planning and Zoning Commission Chairman, David Bondanza, 

regarding the scope of work 
6. Location map for 110 Albany Turnpike; dated 11/12/15 
7. Abutter’s map 
8. Abutter’s list 
9. Copy of Certified Mail receipts 
10. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/28/16 
11. Copy of the abutter notice; received 2/1/16 
12. Copy of the municipal abutter notice sent to the Town of Avon; dated 2/2/16 
13. Town of Canton legal notice 
14. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 2/2/16 
15. Application review comments from George Wallace, Town of Canton Project Administrator and 

corresponding emails 
16. Application review comments from William Rich, Town of Canton Building Official 
17. Copy of the IWWA approval letter for File 11-15-1131; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; 

Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Construction of a new gravity retaining wall; W/S Peak Canton 



Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o WS 
Asset Management, Inc., owners; dated 1/21/16 

 
This approval is effective March 8, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE RECORDING 
OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees; 

 
Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: None 
  
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. File #543; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 & 4580177; Zone R3; 

Lot Line Revision; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner – Mr. 
Wilson Alford Jr. was present to discuss the application on behalf of the property owners, as well as 
answer any questions the Commission had. This application was originally approved on July 16, 2014 
with conditions; however, the Mylar was not filed within the statutory time frame. The applicant has 
resubmitted an application in order to start a new statutory clock, and has updated portions of the 
plans so they comply with the 2014 approval. Mr. Pade provided an overview on the proposed lot line 
revision and stated that all conditions of the approval have been met.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse made a motion to APPROVE File #543; 177 Robin Drive (Lots 2 & 3); 
Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 4580177; Zone AR-3; Modification of Lot Lines; Alford Associates, Inc., 
applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner.  

 
This approval is granted in accordance in accordance with the July 16, 2014 approval, inclusive of all 
documents, exhibits, findings and conditions as stated on the July 22, 2014 approval letter. 

 
This approval is also granted based on the following submitted with plan(s) entitled: 

 
1. Sheet 1; Lot Line Revision; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; Prepared by Alford Associates, Inc.; 

Prepared for Bing and Robin Murphy; dated March 19, 2014; revised August 28, 2014 
 

In addition to the above-referenced plans, this approval is granted in accordance with the following 
documentation submitted by the applicant, or otherwise submitted to the Commission: 

  
1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #543; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; 

Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 & 4580177; Zone R3; Lot Line Revision; Alford 
Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner 

2. Copy of payment; check #21172 
3. Copy of the approval letter for Referral #400; regarding the request to release an easement 

for a temporary cul-de-sac located on Robin Drive; dated 6/30/14 
4. Copy of the approval letter for File #543; 177 Robin Drive (Lots 2 & 3); Assessor’s Map 7; 

Parcel 4580177; Zone AR-3; Resubdivision/Modification of Lot Lines/Release of easement 
for a temporary cul-de-sac; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner; 
dated 7/22/14 

5. Memo from the FVHD to Neil Pade regarding sewage disposal capabilities at 169 Robin 
Drive; dated 9/11/14 

6. Approved minutes from the 5/28/14 regular meeting of the Board of Selectmen 
 



This approval is effective March 8, 2016 and upon the recording of the final Mylar’s as required below 
with the town clerk.  

 
The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear 

all the conditions of all land use commissions, and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by 
the Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) on a Town approved signature block. Said plans 
shall be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk by June 6, 2016, which 
is within 90 days of the effective date (anticipated expiration of the appeal period); The 
applicant/ developer must provide one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each 
approved plan for signature by the Chairman and /or Secretary. Maps to be filed on the land 
records of the Town Clerk must meet the following standards: Must be produced by 1) wash-
off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic polyester film, 3) original ink 
drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be certified by a stamp in red 
indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process used. Polyester films 
(“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side. Maps shall be 24” x 36”. 

2. The conditions of approval of the Commission July 16, 2014 approval are incorporated by 
reference. 

3. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.  
 
Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 

2. Pre-Application Review; 50 Old River Road; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 4060050; Zone MCPF; 
discussion of redevelopment concepts for the Town Garage; Town of Canton, applicant/owner 
– Project Administrator George Wallace and Director of Public Works Robert Martin were present in 
order to discuss the proposed modifications to the existing highway garage located on this property. 
This presentation was brought before the Commission for discussion and an informal, non-binding 
review by request of the Board of Selectmen. Mr. Martin provided background on the current use of 
the property, as well as potential uses in the future. He expressed the town’s desire to increase 
recreational use, provide more parking and access to the Farmington River, allow access from Route 
179, and construct a new public works facility. Mr. Wallace walked through the proposed re-
development concept for the site, emphasizing the mitigation process, grading, the proposed 
structure, drainage and flood plain concerns. The concept has an estimated cost of almost four million 
dollars and if received favorably down the road, would require professional surveying, formal plans 
and concept drawings. Mr. Wallace discussed the idea as it pertains to the POCD and the ability to 
receive a CGS 8-24 Referral.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes of the January 19, 2016 regular meeting – The minutes were approved as 

presented. 
 

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations – Mr. Pade provided overview on where 
things stood with the current list of suggested edits, and asked for guidance on how to proceed with 
the text amendments pertaining to the recent dissolution of the Design Review Ordinance.  

 
3. Discussion of Design Regulations – A Special Meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 24, 

2016 at 6:30 p.m. in Room C of the Community Center in order to continue discussion of the draft 
Form-Based Code Regulations. 
 

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – Mr. Pade provided an overview on where things 
stood with the revised draft of the Subdivision Regulations. At this time, an updated version of the 
Public Improvement Standards has not been received.  
 



5. Discussion of Electronic Message Board Signs – Mr. Pade informed the Commission that the 
owner of 41 Bridge Street would like to convert the existing message board sign to an electronic 
message board so that displayed information could be changed more easily. Based on current zoning 
regulations, Section 7.3.B.3 indicates that such a device would not be allowed; however, it was 
decided that the Commission should be consulted in order to provide an interpretation and the 
possibility of allowing such signs in the future. Mr. Thiesse provided sample language depicting 
another town’s regulations pertaining to electronic message board signage. The Commission 
concluded that text amendments regarding this form of signage should be pursued down the road.  

 
6. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report 
i. File #524; Shallot Meadow Road Acceptance Request – Mr. Pade provided an overview of 

the situation occurring at Shallot Meadow, and informed the Commission of a recent request 
from Mr. David Whitney to withdraw the road acceptance request.  

ii. Commission Membership – Mr. Pade informed the Commission that he received an email 
from Mr. Keith August regarding his resignation from Commission, which will be processed 
within the next few weeks once received by the Board of Selectmen. At this time, there is 
currently one vacant position for an alternate member, but an application has been received 
and is under review.  

iii. TIF Master Plan – Mr. Pade informed the Commission of the TIF Steering Committee and 
provided an overview on where everything stood in regards to reviewing the RFP responses 
that were received and next steps. 

 
b. ZEO Report – The ZEO Report was distributed to the Commission electronically prior to the 

meeting. Mr. Pade informed the Commission of a recent enforcement action at 136 Dowd Avenue 
regarding the failure to install an ADA sidewalk connection and painted crosswalk. Upon 
discussion with the owner, it appears he is looking to request a waiver of the requirement to 
provide access and modify the conditions of the approved plan. At this time; however, no 
application has been submitted to the Land Use Department. After some deliberation, it was 
determined that the owner should submit an application for a Site Plan Modification in order to 
pursue his request. 
 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:30 p.m. Mr. Thiesse seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously.  
 



POCD - PZC as Lead Agency

Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC2 Revise land use regulations to keep development features at a human scale.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC3 Revise regulations to encourage multiple smaller buildings (or the appearance of multiple 
smaller buildings) on commercial sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC4 Revise regulations to minimize vehicle corridors (physically and visually) in commercial areas:
   a.    Minimize street widths.
   b.   Locate buildings close to the street, with minimal parking between the street and the 
building.
   c.  Visually narrow the corridor with landscaping and using building facades at least 1.5 
stories high.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: Design regulations for commercial areas near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 1 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A CC5 Revise regulations to minimize the visual 'bulk' of parking areas:
   a.     Minimize parking requirements and promote shared parking and access.
   b.    Break up parking into multiple smaller areas where practical.
   c.   Visually break up larger parking areas with landscaped medians and islands.  (Remain 
mindful of snow removal.)
   d.    Visually screen large parking areas from adjacent roadways with appropriate means.  
(e.g. using site buildings and many types of landscaping are appropriate; discourage tall 
walls, fences, solid shrub 'walls', or obvious constructed berms.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, Town, CoC, MST

A CC12 Adopt regulations and policies that provide for/allow adequate, but minimal outdoor 
lighting and that incorporate best management practices to limit light spill-over beyond 
where it is needed and intended. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Incorporated into 2014 Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC PW, PMBC, UTIL, CTDOT, BOE, 
PRC

A CC14 Revise land use regulations to promote a variety of archectural styles in commercial areas 
and multi-family buildings, in keeping with the character of surrounding areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

P Yes PZC BOS, BOF, EDA, MST, CoC

A NR11 Develop fundamental updated storm water management (SWM) regulations for zoning and 
subdivision.  Focus on treatment and volume of discharge in addition to peak discharge.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite includes first Stormwater Management Regulations.  It is 
expected that revisions will be necessary to comply with forthcoming MS4 General Permit 
issuance by CTDEEP.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

23-Jun-2015 Page 2 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A NR12 Incorporate Low Impact Development (LID) techniques into SWM regulations for use where 
practical:
   a. Rain gardens, tree boxes, & depressed vegetated medians.
   b. Porous pavement.
   c. Gravel “wetlands” and wet ponds.
   d. Vegetated swales and buffers.
   e. Other best management practice (BMP) bioretention measures.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Reference LID standards called out in new Zoning Regs.  Some changes 
expected with new MS4 GP from CTDEEP.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

A NR15 Incorporate BMPs for steep slope management and design into regulations and standards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Regulations to this effect strengthened in Zoning Reg rewrite.  Will be 
reviewed during Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC IWWA, CC, Town

A NR16 Restrict development on natural slopes exceeding 25% (and/or restrict the heights/extents 
of constructed slopes of certain steepness – consider different thresholds for business 
districts vs. residential districts.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Slope restrictions included in Zoning Reg rewrite.  Will be further reviewed 
with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 3 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A A6 Revise Zoning Regulations to be local farm friendly in residential zones [not exclusively], 
without significantly compromising the integrity and character of the surrounding 
neighborhood, including:
   a. Minimize regulatory hurdles for the operation of farm produce stands;
   b. Allow for expanded product lines that include farm products not produced on the 
subject farm;
   c. Allow for expanded product lines that include crafts or agriculture-derived products that 
are locally produced with a local or regional consumer focus;
   d. Allow for on-site processing of locally grown product, limited to local or regional 
consumer focus;
   e. Allow for adequate, though limited and appropriate, signage for farm produce stands 
and other similar agriculture retail endeavors to inform the public of its location.
   f. Allow for farms to offer consumer supported agriculture (CSA) programs; and,
   g. Allow for on-site events that showcase local products (e.g. dinners, luncheons, wine 
tastings, etc.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite incorporates recommendations from 'Planning for 
Agriculture', and additional suggestions from 'Community Guidance to Maintain Working 
Farms and Forests'.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

A A8 Use the Capital Region Council of Governments prepared model regulations with respect to 
Agriculture, which are recognized state-wide as an excellent example, as a reference source.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: Appropriate elements incorporated into Zoning Reg rewrite.

S Yes PZC CC, Town

A ED7 Consider re-zoning the front part of Bristol’s Farm (abutting Route 44) from residential to 
commercial.  (Note: This is not to render an opinion on its future status as agricultural land; 
rather that, if it should get developed, commercial is preferable to residential.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: No progress in 2014.

NI No PZC EDA, BOS, PO

23-Jun-2015 Page 4 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED8 Limit big-box retail development to appropriate locations (East Gateway is the preferred 
location), and with appropriate design constraints in keeping with the desired community 
character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Adopted Zoning Regs place 'big box' development in Design Districts.

P Yes PZC Town

A ED19 Prioritize and designate appropriate areas for and develop regulations to allow mixed-use in 
Canton:
   a. Multiple mixed-use zones (e.g. neighborhood commercial/residential; general 
commercial/residential; professional office/residential; light industry/commercial; etc.) may 
be appropriate.  
   b. Appropriate design parameters/constraints would be key in establishing the various 
mixed use zones to maintain the appropriate character desired for a particular zone.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Being included in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

A ED30 Reduce the permitting burden for existing businesses and developments for minimally 
significant changes (e.g. small expansions, conversions to similar use, façade changes, etc.).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite allows for staff approval of Zoning Permit uses, and also 
expands staff approval of minor Site Plan modifications.

P Yes PZC WPCA, EDA, Town

A ED31 Take steps to render existing known and acceptable non-conforming (for use) businesses 
into zoning use conformance, or otherwise to allow the expansion of a non-conforming use 
by Special Permit.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Many locations have been identified by staff.  16 Maple Avenue was rezoned 
to conformance.

P Yes PZC

23-Jun-2015 Page 5 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED36 Remove the practice of restricting hours of operation of community businesses and let 
market forces determine such practices.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs are less restrictive on matter and were result of direct 
inclusion of Chamber of Commerce in draft discussions.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, CoC, MST

A ED60 Identify a number of business uses to be permitted as of right in given zones/established 
business areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs created Zoning Permit uses (i.e. uses permitted by right with 
staff review.)

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED61 Empower our professional staff to make more land use decisions, including approvals, 
administratively to improve the effectiveness of the processes and reduce the burden on the 
volunteer boards.  This would also allow the boards to better focus on policy and more 
overriding site development issues appropriate for such boards.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs allow Zoning Permit uses and expanded site plan 
modifications to be approved by staff instead of having to go to the Commission, and 
possible public hearing.  IWWA has not taken up the matter as of yet.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

A ED62 Have zoning designations follow property lines as much as possible; and remove areas of 
ambiguity.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Accomplished to extent practical with adoption of new Zoning Map is 
conjuction with new Regs.  PZC has expressed its desire and intent to follow this standard 
moving forward.

P Yes PZC Town

A ED70 Allow the use of open space to provide transitions between uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
21-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI No PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 6 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A ED73 Work cooperatively with the Chamber and local sign shops to create signage regulations 
that allow businesses to be readily identifiable but minimizes negatives to aesthetics.  
(Review the coordinated signage theme regulations developed for The Shoppes at 
Farmington Valley as starting point for implementation elsewhere in town or town-wide.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs revised sign standards through a cooperative effort with the 
Chamber.  Additional work necessary to meet full intent of this measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

A R7 Revise the zoning regulations to allow two-unit structures (accessory apartments, two-family 
houses, duplex townhouses), with appropriate character preserving caveats, by right in all 
new residential developments
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Two-family dwellings now allowed by special permit in R-1 zones.  Regulations 
for accessory apartments have been improved.

P Yes PZC Town

A R8 Revise the zoning regulations to allow, by right, conversion of existing buildings to two-
family housing or accessory apartments,  with appropriate character preserving caveats, in 
village centers, existing (non-conforming) and proposed mixed use areas, and other 
appropriate locations.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Two-family dwellings now allowed by special permit in R-1 zones.  Also under 
further consideration in the Design Review project.

P Yes PZC Town

A R12 Revise the zoning regulations to create mixed-use zones in village centers and most (or all) 
non-industrial commercial areas.  Such mixed-use zones should allow as of right mixed 
commercial and residential uses within individual buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project for Collinsville and Canton 
Village areas.

P Yes PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 7 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

A U11 Map and identify the extent of the service area for the Town’s wastewater treatment facility 
(i.e. create sewer avoidance areas) to inhibit the expansion of more intense development 
into areas intended for lower density housing.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Sewer shed and system information were added to GIS database.

P Yes PZC WPCA, Town

B CC19 Pursue regulations that allow for shared space environments (live-work units) which creates 
affordable opportunities for artists and other such tradespeople to live and apply their trade 
in the community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Some incoporation in Design Regulation project; there have been discussions 
on inclusion in the Collins Co. redevelopment project.

P Yes PZC

B NR20 Develop and enforce regulations on clear cutting in such core forest areas, limited to those 
activities carried out by a forester certified by the DEEP.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC CC, IWWA, Town

B OS9 Update Subdivision Regulations to maximize open space ‘value’ of lands or monetary 
resources to be associated with open space set-asides and achieve an appropriate balance 
of various open space components.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: To be incorporated in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 8 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B OS10 Update land use Regulations to:
   a. Promote conservation subdivision design.
   b. Build open space into neighborhood design to help preserve rural character.
   c. Expand allowed open space uses to include certain agricultural activities and use for 
subsurface wastewater disposal areas. 
   d. Take a holistic approach to open space decisions, balancing the:  i) Overall benefits and 
value of open space proposed to be created within the subdivision property;  ii) Value of 
leveraging partial credit for lands that [currently] have limited development potential, (e.g. 
wetlands, steep slopes, floodplains, etc.) into larger set-aside areas; and  iii) Open space 
value that may be achieved by “fee-in-lieu-of” funds.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
09-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide incentives for conservation subdivisions and 
associated neighborhood design.  To be strengthened with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC CC, BOS, Town

B ED13 Increase the available inventory of land zoned for light industry.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Proposal for industrial at Satan's Kingdom location withdrawn.

NI n/a PZC EDA, Town

B ED14 Consider allowing a limited number of light industrial uses on certain size lots as a special 
exception in residential zones with appropriate design constraints and limitations on future 
expansion.  (The Perry industrial facility along Barbourtown Road is an example of an 
industrial use existing in harmony within a residential neighborhood.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED15 Consider allowing certain light industry as a mixed-use component with commercial in 
appropriate locations. The legacy of Canton is a community that “made things” in facilities in 
mixed-use areas such as Canton Center and Collinsville.  
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Under consideration with Design Regulation Project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 9 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED20 Consider allowing the expansion of uses within/ around Canton Center that would be 
historically appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, CoC

B ED21 Consider allowing for increases in impervious and building coverage in areas identified as 
appropriate for mixed use and commercial development (with appropriate environmental 
and aesthetic safeguards).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Incorporated in 2014 Zoning Reg rewrite in limited form.  Being developed 
further in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC IWWA, BOS

B ED33 Revise regulations for Village Centers to reduce parking requirements appropriate to the 
‘park-once’ nature of a downtown. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Parking regulations for Collinsville have been relaxed somewhat and also now 
acknowledge the understanding that Collinsville functions on shared parking.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

B ED38 Promote redevelopment that incorporates shared access to improve access management 
along Route 44.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, CoC, PO

B ED40 Increase impervious coverage and building coverage maximums in areas appropriate for 
infill and redevelopment.  Careful consideration should be given to the allowable ratio 
between the two coverage’s to limit sprawl (i.e. individual buildings surrounded by vast 
parking lots) and promote more village styled growth (mixed use).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs have increased building and impervious coverages within 
specified standards.  This is being further explored in the Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 10 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED47 Consider the development of Special Design Districts (similar to West Hartford) that allow 
for increased density in exchange for specialized designs.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No action in FY 2014-2015.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B ED48 Transition to form-based zoning for Collinsville and other (proposed) mixed use zones.  Also 
consider form-based zoning for areas that may be targeted as priority locations for infill or 
redevelopment where development character is of higher importance than parcel use.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under development in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B ED50 Consider allowing mixed use with increased density and impervious coverage in the 
Industrial Park such as a Commerce District defined as a mix of business and industrial and 
high density residential. (Consider a required percentage match of uses and limit residential 
to upper floors.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Mixed use is being incorporated into the Design Regulation project.  That 
project does not cover any industrial zoned areas.

NI n/a PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED59 Adopt appropriate design guidelines for established business areas that reconcile context, 
economic growth, and diversification with clear standards that ensure the preservation and 
enhancement of the Town’s and surrounding area’s character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under development in Design Regulation project; clarity of standards to be 
reviewed.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

B ED63 Establish clear standards for the mutual buffering of business and residential properties to 
reduce negotiations of this from the process.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide for prescriptive standards to accomplish mutual 
buffering.

P Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 11 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B ED71 Evaluate and include creative ways to reduce parking requirements and encourage shared 
parking and access between adjacent parcels.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Parking regulations were improved in new Zoning Regs.  Additional measures 
under review in Design Regulation project.  Still additional work to be done.

P Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST, PO

B ED72 Revise the regulations to encourage/require business areas to be more pedestrian and bike 
friendly.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs include specific standards for bicycle and pedestrian 
accommodations.  Further improvement necessary to meet intent of this measure.

P Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST

B R9 Revise zoning regulations to create one or more zones that allow for apartment/ 
condominium development.  Consider limiting the number of units per building and other 
character-related caveats where appropriate.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Review project.

P Yes PZC Town

B R13 Allow multi-family residential structures as of right in mixed-use zones.  Maximum unit per 
building requirements, set as appropriate for the subject area, should be considered.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project.

P Yes PZC Town

B R14 Consider the creation of mixed-use ‘blending’ zones, zones where the types and densities of 
commercial use and residential development allowed are less intense than a normal mixed-
use zone, to transition from commercial areas to lower density residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Discussions of such zones have occurred with respect to Maple Avenue and 
Lawton Road areas.  Minimal progress has been realized.

D No PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 12 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R15 Facilitate neighborhood commercial node development through the permitting of small 
scale neighborhood friendly retail uses near key intersections in established (or proposed) 
residential areas.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Under consideration in Design Regulation project.

D Yes PZC Town

B R16 Revise applicable regulations to strongly encourage conservation subdivision development 
utilizing density based zoning principals for all new residential subdivisions north of State 
Route 44.  The open space created should be consistent with the open space and natural 
resource conservation priorities of the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs include provisions for new conservation subdivision 
incorporating innovative considerations and density bonuses.  Subdivision Reg rewrite is 
expected to further expand and implement these prinicples.

P Yes PZC CC, Town

B R19 Revise applicable regulations to encourage connecting through streets and discourage cul-
de-sacs.  Consider requiring all cul-de-sacs to be private roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D n/a PZC Town

B R20 Consider expanding the current limitation of 2 lots on a single driveway, with appropriate 
safety and emergency response requirements.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.

D n/a PZC Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 13 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B R21 Insure that design standards:
   a. incorporate appropriate provisions to reduce impacts, such as Low Impact Development 
(LID).
   b. use minimum appropriate street widths and other techniques to minimize the 
maintenance burden on the Town.
   c. promote an environmentally appropriate layout (with respect to such things as 
topography, wetlands and watercourses, soil types, steep slopes, and the conservation of 
other natural resource priorities of the town).
   d. incorporate the use of multi-property septic systems in common areas and open space, 
where appropriate, and keeping in mind that the Town's WPCA becomes responsible for 
ensuring the operation and maintenance of such systems.
   e. encourage resource efficient (a.k.a. 'green') design.  (Consider a density bonus.)
   f. encourage using architectural features, building materials, landscaping material and 
building scale that are representative of the character of the area, and yet provide a 
distinctive and varied architectural landscape.
   G. provide pedestrian connectivity between neighborhoods and destination points 
(including but not limited to parks, schools, transit stops and other neighborhood amenities 
wherever possible).
   H. increase opportunities for people to interact, both within the neighborhood and within 
existing or future adjacent neighborhoods.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of the Subdivision Reg rewrite.  Aspects also under 
consideration in Design Regulation project.

D n/a PZC Town

B T29 Encourage development techniques and designs that reduce roadway lengths, such as 
cluster residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs provide incentives for clustering and reduced road lengths.  
Matter anticipated to be addressed further in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 14 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

B U3 Consider zoning incentives for significant use of renewable energy, such as solar or 
geothermal, in new developments. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs address renewable energy options; however, incentives are 
not provided for.

NI n/a PZC BOS, EC, Town

B U12 Revise regulations and take other steps as necessary to allow for appropriately designed 
community sub-surface wastewater disposal systems in open space areas for conservation 
subdivisions.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Anticipated to be considered in Subdivision Reg rewrite.

NI n/a PZC WPCA, BOS, Town, DEEP, 
CTDPH, FVHD

C NR14 Investigate ways to (with reasonable burden to the property owner) encourage/ ensure 
adequate maintenance of installed stormwater management facilities.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: General provision included in Zoning Reg rewrite.

P Yes PZC IWWA, Town, FRWC, DEEP

G CC1 Manage development densities and other patterns of development to be consistent with 
POCD principles.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; incorporated as appropriate in Form/Design 
Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC Town

G CC6 Use architectural designs and building facades that are appropriate for the character of the 
town and the neighborhood surrounding a development. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: New Zoning Regulations adopted; Design regulations for commercial areas 
near completion.

n/a Yes PZC HDC, MST, PMBC, Town, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 15 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC16 Land use regulations and agency actions that promote a  variety of neighborhoods and 
housing to accommodate households of diverse sizes and economic status.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: corrected status back to 'n/a'.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, WPCA, Town

G CC26 Conserve tree and shrub buffers along streets whenever possible.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: o relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC, PW

G CC27 Protect identified public right-of-way views of scenic value.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: o relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC, BOS, PW

G CC28 Design subdivisions such that new structures in scenic areas or which may affect scenic 
views are hidden to the extent practical.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC 

G CC29 Limit development-related clear-cuts and exposed home sites.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC CC

G CC31 Land use and agency actions that promote the preservation /re-purposing of significant 
historic buildings.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, CC, HDC

23-Jun-2015 Page 16 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G CC32 Land use and agency actions that promote agricultural vitality.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Zoning Reg rewrite incorporates recommendations from 'Planning for 
Agriculture', and additional suggestions from 'Community Guidance to Maintain Working 
Farms and Forests'.

n/a Yes PZC CC, BOS

G CC33 Land use and agency actions that promote the industrial heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: No relevant applications or referalls in FY.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, BOS

G CC34 Land use and agency actions that promote the mixed-use heritage of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Village District regulations being written for Collinsville and Canton Village 
areas.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST, HDC

G CC35 Land use and agency actions that promote the small business and entrepreneurial heritage 
of Canton.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Investment in public improvements fronting Collins Co.  Ongoing discussions 
and support with interested parties.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, MST 

G CC37 Preserve and enhance village centers, maintaining a historical context. 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Village District regulations being developed for Collinsville and Canton Center 
areas.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, MST, HDC

G CC39 Encourage and facilitate infill and adaptive reuse in concert with surrounding context and 
heritage.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
14-Jun-2015: Design regulations for commercial areas near completion.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 17 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G NR19 Ensure/ encourage that development plans in core forest areas limit unnecessary clear 
cutting and fragmentation, utilize BMPs and habitat management.  (Note: clearing for bona 
fide agricultural activities -including foresting - or natural habitat enhancement should not 
be discouraged.)
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: To be considered with Subdivision Reg rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC CC, Town

G ED10 Understand that condominiums/apartments/higher density residential uses adjacent to or 
near commercial land are to be treated as an appropriate transitional use between business 
areas and single family neighborhoods.  The existence of such higher density residential uses 
should not influence or be used to deny proposed commercial development on such 
commercial land.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Taken into consideration in regulations and as individual site development 
plans are processed.

n/a n/a PZC Town, MST, RES

G ED12 Expand opportunities for light industry.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Proposal for industrial development at Satan's Kingdom withdrawn.

n/a n/a PZC EDA, Town, CoC

G ED37 Promote infill and redevelopment of existing sites to expand the tax base within existing 
developed areas while maintaining context sensitivity of the surrounding built environment 
and local character.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Relevant measures being included in the Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, IWWA, CoC, MST

G ED58 Provide clear rules for the land use processes that lead to  predictable outcomes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Progress made by creating updated checklists and adoption of procedural 
regulations in new Zoning Regs.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

23-Jun-2015 Page 18 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G ED69 Protect areas designated for commercial and industrial use from encroachment to their 
permitted and intended uses from nearby residential development and associated 
‘sensibility creep’.
   a. Provide appropriate transition uses where possible.
   b. Land use board decisions should respect such use designations and reflect the principles 
of this POCD with regards to these uses.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No opportunities presented in FY 2014-2015.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, EDA, Town, Res

G R1 Encourage designs (where appropriate) for new buildings within established neighborhoods 
that are appropriate and similar to the character of the surrounding neighborhood.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: PZC just beginning work on Subdivision Reg rewrite.  This will be part of the 
discussion; although substantial change to the Regs would be required to accomplish this.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R2 Encourage new development (where appropriate) to reflect and enhance each area's 
historic and cultural qualities through distinct building design that is responsive to the 
existing context of the area, and that are in keeping with the community character 
objectives of this Plan.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: PZC just beginning work on Subdivision Reg rewrite.  This will be part of the 
discussion; although substantial change to the Regs would be required to accomplish this; 
and legal ability to do so is uncertain.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R5 Maintain Canton as a predominantly low density single family owner occupied community.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Amended Zoning Map adopted in 2014 met this goal.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 19 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G R6 Promote “naturally occurring affordable housing” units (which may not be deed restricted, 
but which meet the market criteria for purchase or rent by low and moderate income 
families).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Design Regulation project is expected to contain IHZ regulations which, while 
not specifically 'naturally occurring', will promote developments that fit into the community 
in a manner fits the aesthetic qualities of naturally occurring units.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, Town

G R10 Maintain a strong, diverse housing balance, increasing the more moderately price housing 
options while maintaining the number of detached single family housing units at above 65% 
of the total housing stock.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: No opportunities to further this goal presented.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, Town

G R17 Encourage residential development that promotes a sense of neighborhood and community, 
and that provides visual interest and distinctive character and identity to the Town.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: To be discussed as part of Subdivision Reg rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC CC, Town

G R18 Encourage infill and reuse residential development.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Under consideration in Subdivision Regulation rewrite.

n/a n/a PZC Town

G F5 Address the need for affordable housing, ideally in the vicinity of, and considering the 
development of, complimentary supporting transportation options.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
20-Jun-2015: Being considered in the design regulation development as part of the IHZ.

n/a n/a PZC BOS, SS, Town

23-Jun-2015 Page 20 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

G T16 Encourage/promote/incentivize shared access drives and connected parking areas along 
Route 44 and other State Routes (in commercial areas).
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: New Zoning Regs allow for shared parking across interconnected parcels.  
Matter also being considered in Design Regulation project.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, EDA, Town, CTDOT, CoC

G T28 Minimize pavement widths on new or reconstructed roads.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Town made maintaining existing width of Eash Hill Road a priority over State 
funding for rehabilitation.

n/a Yes PZC BOS, PW, Town

O NR13 When significant modifications occur on existing sites, require that stormwater 
management controls be updated to reflect current standards and best management 
practices (BMPs) to practical extents.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
08-Apr-2015: Required by new Zoning Regs (indluding for significant residential 
development).  Some changes expected with new MS4 GP from CTDEEP.

n/a Yes PZC IWWA, Town

O ED11 Consider modest, minimally intrusive ways to turn potentially tax-negative land into 
potentially tax-positive land:
   a. Establish conforming mixed-use areas.
   b. Make existing non-conforming business conforming; and allowing reasonable, modest 
expansion of those businesses.
   c. Promote conversion of single family structures to business uses where zoning allows.
   d. Consider modest expansion of existing commercial and industrial areas (including using 
mixed-use to accomplish this) where appropriate.
   e. Appropriate design constraints are essential to the implementation of this strategy.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
11-Apr-2015: Mixed use being explored as part of Design Regulation Project. 16 Maple 
Avenue changed to conforming business zone.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, Town, CoC, MST

23-Jun-2015 Page 21 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Priority Item Description / Last Note Status Yearly 
Progress

Lead 
Agency Primary Partners

O ED54 Revise land use regulations to be in step with the POCD.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: **

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC

O ED64 Identify areas of inefficiency in the land use processes and guide recommendations for 
changes and goals that reduce the timeframes associated with the processes without 
diluting the effectiveness or value of the processes.
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 
15-Apr-2015: Some areas identified and addressed in Zoning Reg rewrite.

n/a Yes PZC EDA, BOS, Town, CoC, MST, 
RES

23-Jun-2015 Page 22 of 22POCD - PZC as Lead Agency



Item Status Yearly Progress Comment

CC2 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

CC3 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

CC4 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

CC5 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

CC12 S Yes Adopted May 2014

CC14 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

NR11 P Yes Partially incorporated May 2014. MS4 program forthcoming from DEEP will dictate schedule for completion

NR12 P Yes Partially incorporated May 2014. Additional improvements anticipated with forthcoming MS4 program

NR15 P Yes Incorporated into Zoning May 2014, Under review in Subdvision Rewrite 2016

NR16 P Yes Incorporated into Zoning May 2014, Under review in Subdvision Rewrite 2016

A6 S Yes Adopted May 2014

A8 S Yes Adopted May 2014

ED7 NI n/a Present preservation actions take priority over this implementation measure

ED8 P Yes Since 2014, now controled by design districts, this Status should be changed to S or Priority changed to O

ED19 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

ED30 P Yes Post 2014, staff now approves many applications administratively and commisons have been consolidated. Suggest changing Status to S

ED31 P   

ED36 P Yes Adopted May 2014 - Change Status to S or Priorty to O?

ED60 P Yes Are new uses by ZP enough to convert Status to S?

ED61 P No No change from 2015 report comments

ED62 P Yes Change to Status to S and recommend Priority to O?

ED70 NI n/a No actions in 2015-2016

ED73 P Yes
Additioanl work with Collinsville Merchant's group to develop Model Temporary Signage underway.  Additional work necessary to meet full intent of 

this measure

R7 P No Review with Commission - S?

R8 P Yes

R12 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

U11 S Yes WPCA Sewershed map updated, inclusive of expanded area in East Gateway.  Incorporated into GIS

CC19 P Yes Some incorporation in Design Regulation Proejct; there have been discussions on inclusion in the Collins Co. redevelopment project.

NR20 NI n/a No actions in 2015-2016

OS9 P Yes Under review in current subdivision rewrite

OS10 P Yes Incorporated into Zoning May 2014, Under review in Subdvision Rewrite 2016

ED13 NI n/a Post Satan's Kingdom proposal this measure should be revisited

ED14 NI n/a No actions in 2015-2016

ED15 P Yes Under partial consideration in Design Regulation Project

ED20 NI n/a No actions in 2015-2016

ED21 P Yes Incorporated into Zoning May 2014, Under review in Design Regulation Project 2016

ED33 P Yes Change to Status to S and recommend Priority to O?

POCD Implementation Plan - Status Review, PZC March 2016



ED38 P Yes See T20 

Some consideration on 

access management has 

been explored and 

incorporated into Draft Form 

Based Code.  Road Safety 

Audits from CTDOT 

requested.  Discsusions with 

proprty owner has resullted in 

a plan to connect 153-181 

Albany Turnpike.

ED40 P Yes Incorporated into Zoning May 2014, Under review in Design Regulation Project 2016

ED47 NI n/a Does Section 5 Design District accomdate this?

ED48 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

ED50 D No EDA submitted a request for funds to explore market feasiblity for alternate uses for the Industrial Park, not funded at this time

ED59 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

ED63 Change Status to S?

ED71 P Yes Parking regulations improved in 2014 Zoning, Additional mesaures under review in Design Regulation Project. Still additional work to be done

ED72 P Yes
2014 Zoning includes specific standards for bicycle and pedestrian accomodations.  Under conisderation to some extent in Dsign Regulation project. 

Additioanl work necessray to meet intent of this measure.

R9 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

R13 P Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

R14 P Yes Believe this has materialzed as Detached Building Form Standard in DRAFT Form Based Code

R15 D N Was not incorporated into Design Regulation project, additional/ separate initative will be necessary

R19 P Yes Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project

R20 P Yes Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project

R21 P Yes Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project

T29 P Yes 2014 Zoning provides incentives for clustering and reduced road lengths.  Under review in 2015-2016 Subdivision Rewrite project

U3 NI n/a
2014 Zoning addresses renewable energy options however incentives are not proivded for with the exception that roof moutned solar arrays do not 

require separate permits

U12 D No while anticiapted to be incorporated into Subdivision Rewrite, not refernced in current draft 

NR14 P No General provision in 2014 Zoning, however additional iniatiaives toward this measure required

CC1 n/a Yes Minimally addressed in 2014 Zoning. Incorporated as appropriate in Draft Design Regulations under review

CC6 n/a Yes
Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC. New commerical building approved in 2015 after careful archtectural consideration of the 

neighborhood

CC16 n/a

CC26 n/a Yes
Meetings have occurred with the Town Tree Warden and a policy of reviewing trees in Town ROW or on private proeprty near the Town ROW has 

been established.  The Tree Warden has also reviewed and commented on draft street tree standards in Design Regulation 

CC27 n/a Yes actions being taken to protect Bristol's Farm identified as a Character Resource

CC28 n/a Yes no relevent applciations or referalls in FY, however supporting review langauge included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft

CC29 n/a Yes no relevent applciations or referalls in FY, however supporting review langauge included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft

CC31 n/a Yes Supporting langauge presently included in Subdivision Rewrite Draft

CC32 n/a Yes actions being taken to protect Bristol's Farm

CC34 n/a Yes Village District Statutes incorporated into Design Regulation Draft



CC35 n/a Yes
Responsible Growth grant requested to continue investmetn in improvements fronting Collinsville businesses. Road Safety audits requested in 

numerous areas to increase safety near small businesses. TIF Master Plan being pursuesd to suppot Collins Co. redevelopment

CC37 n/a Yes Resposible Growth grant requested documenting intent to support Village Center. Village Distirct regulations drafted in Design Regulation project

CC39 n/a Yes Design Regulations drafted and under review of PZC

NR19 n/a Yes Draft langague incorporated into Subdivision Rewrite under review

ED10 n/a Yes This strategy/ intent has been relayed to developers making inquiries

ED12 n/a n/a Proposal to increase industrial development at Satan's Kingdom withdrawn

ED37 n/a Yes under discussion in the Design Regulation project

ED58 n/a Yes
Land Use Department forms have been updated. Building Department Forms revised and under review, Fire Protection/ Emergency Response 

standards drafted and under review. Public Improvement standards drafted and under review

ED69 n/a

R1 n/a

R2 n/a

R5 n/a  

R6 n/a

R10 n/a

R17 n/a

R18 n/a

F5 n/a

T16 n/a Yes 2014 zoning allows for shared parking across interconnected parcels. Design Regulations under review provide simillar considerations

T28 n/a Yes
This is discussed on a case by case basis with road reconstruction over the past year. In some instances pavemetn is reduced, in some it is 

widenend. In some intsances where it is widened lanes are striped narrowly (down to 9.5 feet) for traffic calming and safety

NR13 n/a Yes Purused on a number of sites seeking building permits under new Zoning requirement 

ED11 n/a Yes Mixed use incorporated into Design Regulation draft under review.

ED54 n/a  

ED64 n/a


	Working Notes
	File #445; Apln #1576
	File #76; Apln #1578
	File #383
	2/10/16 Special Meeting Minutes
	2/17/16 Regular Meeting Minutes
	POCD 

